RECEIVED

Oct 21 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
DEBRA R. MCCASLIN, CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

Appellate Case No. 2021-000460

Quality Fresca I, LLC,Appellant,

v.

Kenneth R. Davenport, II, Personal Representative of the
Estate of Kenneth R. Davenport,Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Desa Ballard (SC Bar No. 498)
Harvey M. Watson III (SC Bar No. 74053)
BALLARD & WATSON
226 State Street
West Columbia, South Carolina 29169
Telephone 803.796.9299
Facsimile 803.796.1066
desab@desaballard.com
harvey@desaballard.com

Theodore Huge (SC Bar No. 16546)
HARRIS & HUGE LLC
180 Spring Street
Charleston, South Carolina 29403

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The magistrate and the circuit court erred in deciding the matter solely on the basis of equitable principles of law, overlooking the legal issues presented which defined the rights of the parties, and granted relief to landlord solely on the basis of equitable doctrines, despite the legal rights spelled out by the contract documents.

- II. To the extent equitable principles should have been considered at all, tenant's assumption of commercial space for a restaurant in downtown Charleston the early months of the 2020 pandemic weighed in favor of construing equity in favor of tenant.

- III. The circuit court erred in finding and concluding that the magistrate did not have jurisdiction to grant an appeal bond for the appeal to the circuit court. In addition, landlord did not appeal the magistrate's order setting the appeal bond, so this issue was not preserved for review by the circuit court, was moot and should not have been addressed by the circuit court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal by Quality Fresca I, LLC (hereafter “Tenant”) from a magistrate’s court ruling ejecting Appellant Tenant from commercial retail property in downtown Charleston. The matter was appealed to the circuit court, which affirmed. Tenant appeals both orders.

The lease applicable to the parties to this action (the “original lease”) was executed on September 25, 2013 between landlord and Tenant’s predecessor in interest, Ochlocknee Ventures, LLC. (R. pp. 44-69). The lease was amended by an Assignment, Assumption and Amendment of Lease executed October 16, 2018. (R. pp. 70-80). Lastly, a subsequent Assignment, Assumption and Amendment to Lease Agreement was executed as of May 8, 2020, to include the current Tenant, Appellant Quality Fresca I, LLC (R. pp. 147-150) (already designated herein as “tenant”). The May 8, 2020 Assignment, Assumption and Amendment is referred to here as the “COVID-19 Amendment.”

Tenant notified landlord in writing on September 3, 2020 that Tenant was exercising its option to renew. (R. pp. 170-171). The email enclosed a letter dated September 3, 2020 from tenant, formally exercising its option to renew the lease for the first five-year period. (R pp. 172). This was before the lease had expired on September 30, 2020. (R. p. 255, line 14 – p. 256, line 10). Tenant paid rent for October, the first month of the renewed lease, on September 28, 2020, which tenant (or its agent) accepted. (R. p. 278, line 18 – p. 283, line 23). The magistrate’s court was not made aware that tenant had paid for the first month of the rent for the renewed lease when it issued its order. (R. p. 337, lines 10-21). Additionally, rent for November, 2020 was also paid, but that was paid during the pendency of the ejectment proceeding before the Magistrate’ court.

(R. p. 337, line 25 – p. 338, line 18; p. 342, lines 6-17). It was also learned at the bond hearing that Tenant’s payments were made to the management company, not directly to landlord. *Id.*

Two days later, on October 1, 2020, Landlord instituted a proceeding entitled “Rule to Vacate or Show Cause (Eviction) alleging “the terms of your tenancy or occupancy have ended” and “[y]ou have violated the terms of conditions of your lease. . .” (R. pp. 37-94).

Landlord argued that tenant should be evicted because of a series of emails exchanged between landlord and tenant during the Summer of 2020, when virtually all businesses in the country were trying to determine if they were going to survive the COVID-19 quarantine. One of the emails exchanged included a statement by an agent of tenant that [based on what it knew then] it would “unfortunately” be unable to renew the lease prior to expiration. (R. pp. 425-426). However, during those email discussions, landlord also said no decision had been made as to renewal. (R. pp. 437-438).

The Magistrate granted landlord’s motion to evict tenant. (R. pp. 3-12). Tenant appealed to the circuit court, and the Magistrate issued an order for an appeal bond which required tenant to pay full compensation to landlord during the appeal to the circuit court. (R. pp. 13-14). The circuit court affirmed the Magistrate’s order (R. pp. 15-32). Appeal to this Court was timely filed. This Court granted tenant’s petition for writ of supersedeas to continue the terms of the Magistrate’s appeal bond in effect “until a final ruling by this court.” (R. p. 36).

FACTS RELEVANT TO ALL ISSUES

At the time of the COVID-19 Amendment, the country was in the early days of the COVID-19 pandemic, and restaurants in South Carolina were operating at a severely reduced level, if at all, pursuant to Section 1 of Executive Order 2020-05008 issued by Governor Henry McMaster

and effective Monday, May 11, 2020. That Executive Order permitted “limited indoor, on-premises customer dining” for restaurants in the state and “incorporating guidelines established by the South Carolina Restaurant and Lodging Association, in addition to undertaking and implementing all reasonable steps to comply with any applicable sanitation guidelines promulgated by the CDC, DHEC, or any other state or federal public official.” (McMaster Executive Order 2020-05-08, not included in ROA).

The COVID-19 Amendment (to which Landlord consented) was executed the same date as Governor McMaster’s executive order 2020-05-08. (R. pp. 146-151). The COVID-19 Amendment included, *inter alia*, assignment to the present Tenant and amendments to the October 2018 lease to include *deferral of rent* contingent upon payment in advance of certain monthly rent and all CAM for April and May 2020. (R. pp. 146-151).

Thus, the COVID-19 Amendment to lease was executed in the midst of the pandemic, making those circumstances relevant to the intent of the parties at the time the document was executed on May 8, 2020. Tenant’s restaurant was still shut down at the time the COVID-19 amendment was executed.¹ (R. p. 288, lines 9-24).

The COVID-19 Amendment included the following provision:

Landlord acknowledges and agrees that . . . Assignee shall be entitled to exercise any of Assignor’s options or rights afforded to Assignor, as tenant under the Lease, pursuant to the terms and conditions provided therein, including, but not limited to, tenant’s option to extend the term of the Lease for two (2) additional five (5) year periods as set forth in Section B.2 of the Lease.

(R. p. 148, Section 3).

¹ The record reflects that the restaurant reopened “the first week of June. . . temporarily for . . . Thursday, Friday and Saturdays, and then slowly expanded days of the week until the college students returned.” (R. p. 289, lines 2-6).

Thus, when the parties executed the COVID-19 Amendment, everyone knew that restaurants were closed and any date for reopening was speculative at best. Nonetheless, Landlord expressly renewed the existing option for two (2) five-year extensions of the lease with full knowledge that operating restaurants was an assumed risk.

Tenant notified Landlord in writing on September 3, 2020 that Tenant was exercising its option to renew. (R. p.170). The email enclosed a letter dated September 3, 2020 from tenant, formally exercising its option to renew the lease for the first five-year period. (R. pp. 171-172). This was well before the lease had expired on September 30, 2020. (R. p. 255, line 14 – p. 256, line 10). In response, Landlord’s attorney wrote a letter via email to Tenant on September 4, 2020 attempting to claim a default by tenant. (R pp. 430-431). The subject line of the letter was “[d]efault of and waiver of option under that certain . . . lease dated September 25, 2013. . .”

The letter also pointed out for the first time, that the security deposit from the COVID-19 Amendment had not been paid, which prompted tenant to send it. *See* discussion, *infra*.

Landlord’s lawyer attempted to characterize emails that had been exchanged during the summer of 2020 as “notice” that tenant “would be vacating. . .” which is a misstatement of the content of the emails.² According to Landlord, an agent of Appellant/tenant contacted the Landlord during the summer of 2020 to “solidify the lease that was coming up with – coming up for renewal with options.” (R. p. 250, lines 1-6). This is not a case of Tenant or Landlord asking for advance notice of renewal. To the contrary, Landlord testified that no notice of the option to

² The emails were admitted into evidence by stipulation as to “authenticity [and] foundation.” (R. p. 240, line 13 – p. 241, line 5; p. 246). They are listed as without an exhibit number in the Magistrate’s Return Vol. 1, p. 4. (R. p. 100).

renew was required, and under the lease “[Tenant] could wait till the very last day of the lease to exercise the option.” (R. p. 272, lines 17-21.)

The summer 2020 emails included a July 27, 2020 email with Tenant’s agent saying, ‘let us know if you find another tenant.’³ (R. p. 256, lines 13-18; p. 274, lines 2-16; R. p. 161). Landlord’s agent testified on direct that they “made a few phone calls” and found “a new tenant. . .” because they “had the impression” tenant was not going to exercise its option to renew. (R. p. 252, lines 17-20; p. 257, line 14).

Only on cross did Landlord admit the “new tenant” was vacuous, in that there was no actual lease to this “new tenant,” no copy of any such lease or agreement was offered into evidence, the terms of any such agreement supposedly existed “for a period of time,” and the new tenant was not obligated to do anything while the current tenant remains in the space. (R. p. 263, lines 11 – p. 264, line 2; Tr. p. 267, lines 6 – 15). Landlord did not produce a signed lease and offered no testimony that it had sustained any damages as a result of making “a few phone calls.”⁴

The representative for landlord admitted that on July 27, 2020, it had agreed to notify tenant if it found a new tenant. (R. p. 274, lines 2 – 16). However, no such notice was ever given to tenant. (R. p. 266, lines 15-22; p. 274, lines 2-6; lines 14-16; p. 276, lines 13-19). On August 25, 2020, Tenant made clear in an email to Landlord that Tenant was still considering exercising the

³ The emails, which were admitted by stipulation, are identified on the Magistrate’s Return as Item 7 of exhibits, but with no exhibit number. (R. p. 100). The documents included in the Magistrate’s Return Vol. 2 at pp. 14-25, attached here as Defendant’s Exhibit. (R. pp. 160-171).

⁴ In fact, the only speculative “damages” which landlord testified would have occurred was if the shadowy “new tenant” leaves, not if the current Tenant stays. (R. p. 273, lines 17-25). The testimony (via an extremely leading question) was merely that Landlord was “concerned that . . . the estate is going to have to incur expenses with respect to the broker that it engaged and with respect to the new tenant and that opportunity being lost.” (R. p. 273, lines 20-25). There was no testimony that any action of the existing Tenant had caused any damages at all to Landlord.

option. (R. p. 166). At that time, Landlord for the first time raised other issues that suggested Landlord did not want Tenant to renew the lease. *Id.* at page 21.

Landlord wanted tenant to leave. Landlord attempted on August 25, 2020 to characterize Tenant's July 27, 2020 email as "Quality Fresca has elected to not exercise their option regarding the lease extension. . .". (R. p. 165). Tenant immediately disputed that, and responded within a day to clarify that no such notice had yet been given and Tenant was still considering the option of exercising the option. (R. p. 166). Only then did Landlord decide to find fault with Tenant's occupancy of the premises. *Id.* p. 21.

It is impossible to find detrimental reliance when Tenant made clear it was still considering exercising the option long after the "unfortunately it does" email of August 6, 2020. (R. p. 163). Tenant made clear that nothing in the emails should be construed as notice of tenant's intent to vacate. Landlord demonstrated absolutely no detrimental reliance on the summer 2020 emails, and if it so relied, it did so despite the August 25, 2020 email that expressly said the option was still being considered. *Id.* Any claimed detrimental reliance was unreasonable in light of the express statement on August 25, 2020 that the option was still being considered.

The original 2013 lease included several specific terms relevant to the issues before the Courts, none of which was raised by landlord, nor addressed by the magistrate's court or the circuit court.

A. Section B.1 provided that the lease ended on the 30th day of September 2020.

B. Section B.2 permitted two (2) additional five (5) year tensions with no date specified for tenant's election to extend the Lease.⁵

C. Section 21.b requires "written notice" to Tenant of any default under the lease, which written notice shall "specify[] any such event of default" and advising of the right to cure within 20 days in the written notice of default.

The pleadings in this matter alleged, erroneously, that "Tenant never made the \$30,496.00 Security Deposit required by Paragraph 4.c of the Assignment, Assumption and Amendment of Lease dated May 8, 2020." Landlord made this allegation even though the option to extend the lease for another five years was made September 3, 2020, before the expiration of the lease. (R. p. 255, line 14 – p. 256, line 10). This false statement was also made despite Tenant's tendering of the Security Deposit and future advance rental on September 29, 2020, which was both before the end of the lease and before this action was filed. The full amount was tendered a second time, as discussed herein.

Testimony established that tenant tendered the full Security Deposit before the expiration of the lease on September 29, 2020. "The – balance owed on the security deposit was not paid until September 29, 2020." (R. p. 278, lines 8 – 19; p. 279, lines 12-16). Evidence further reflected that at no time had Landlord requested payment of the security deposit after the COVID-19 Amendment was executed. The issue arose only after Tenant exercised its option, via counsel's September 4, 2020 letter, which was an attempt by landlord to terminate the lease after the option had already been exercised. (R. p. 279, lines 11 – 25).

⁵ The landlord Kenneth Davenport testified "there's no defined period that says they have to exercise that option within a certain period of time. So they could wait till the very last day of the lease to exercise that option." (R. p. 272, lines 17-21).

Landlord instructed the property manager not to accept the security deposit when it was paid on September 29, 2020 (before this lawsuit had been filed). Landlord’s agent testified that the payment, if accepted, would have brought Appellant tenant’s financial obligations current. (R. p. 280, line 5 -25; p. 282, line 2 – 6). Landlord testified that tenant paid \$41,995.99 on September 29, 2020, but Landlord rejected the payment on October 1, 2020.⁶ Appellant\tenant then made as second payment on October 12 “in the same amount and that was rejected on October 14. As “instructed to by the owner of the property.” (R. p. 280, lines 1 – 21). The reason the Landlord gave for rejected both payments sent by Appellant/tenant is that “Moe’s was not exercising their option and the money was not to be collected.” (Tr. p. 280, line 16 – p. 281, line 1). This was clearly false, and Landlord lied to his agent because the option had been exercised on September 3, 2020.

These funds were rejected *despite* the option having already been exercised and this action already having been filed. (R. p. 283, lines 3-11); Clearly, Landlord did not want Tenant to exercise its option to renew, and is attempting to use the summer 2020 correspondence as a reason to terminate the lease even though the option was exercised and the full payment tendered *before* the lease expired. In seeking supersedeas from this Court, tenant included an affidavit from the Account Manager who maintains the accounts payable for tenant, which details all funds due in connection with the execution of the COVID-19 Amendment were paid to and accepted by

⁶ The record is silent as to whether Landlord deposited the check and issued a refund, or simply returned the checks sent September 29, 2020 and October 13, 2020. Since it was Landlord’s burden to establish that the funds were not paid, it was critical to know whether Landlord initially accepted the funds before rejecting them. Since Landlord failed to introduced evidence as to the manner in which it received and rejected Tenant’s payments, the trial courts should have applied the inference that evidence in control of a party that is not introduced by that party supports an inference that the evidence, if produced, would be detrimental to the party who secretes the evidence. Sanders, Trial Handbook for South Carolina Lawyers (SC Bar 2019), Section 41.1, p. 1590. See also *Johnson v. Windham*, 224 S.C. 502, 80 S.E.2d 234 (1954).

Landlord. The affidavit also verified that tenant was current on all financial obligations to landlord, including monthly rental payment made and accepted after the appeal to this Court. (R. pp. 445-448).⁷

RELIEF REQUESTED BEFORE MAGISTRATE

After Tenant exercised its option to renew the lease, and after it had tendered all funds due including deposit, tax, insurance and advance rent, on October 1, 2020, Landlord instituted a proceeding entitled “Rule to Vacate or Show Cause (Eviction) alleging “the terms of your tenancy or occupancy have ended” and “[y]ou have violated the terms of conditions of your lease. . .” (R. p. 38). The lease would have expired the day before, but Tenant had already exercised the option to renew and tendered all funds due including rent in advance. Landlord instituted this action not because Tenant did not exercise its option and tender all funds due, but because tenant did exercise its option and pay the sums due. Clearly, Landlord wants Tenant out, not the other way around.

The alleged violation of the lease was described in the Application for Ejectment as “on August 6, 2020, Tenant informed Landlord that it would not be financially able to pay full rent and would not exercise its option to extend the lease beyond expiration of the current term, which ended on September 30, 2020.” That is completely false. The last communication between the two was an agreement for Landlord to notify Tenant if a new tenant was located. (R. p. 435). Even if a new tenant really existed, Landlord never told Tenant about it. Tenant exercised its option.

⁷ This affidavit will be included in the record on appeal even though it was not before the trial court, because (1) the affidavit is of record in this appeal by virtue of its inclusion in the Petition for Writ of Supersedeas; (2) having it available in the Record on Appeal will assist the Court in understanding the finances that neither the magistrate’s court nor the circuit court understood; and (3) for the convenience of the Court.

No provision of the lease allowed email communications to be relied upon the parties to the COVID-19 2019 Amendment. To the contrary, the original lease and all subsequent documents required written notice. Instead, Landlord attempted to terminate the lease by letter to tenant dated September 4, 2020 from its counsel, before the lease had expired, after the option had been exercised and after the security deposit and all funds due on renewal of option were paid. By twice rejecting landlord's payment in September and October, landlord breached the lease.

Throughout trial, Landlord's lawyer attempted to persuade a witness to testify that Tenant had the financial ability to exercise its option and was merely posturing to get a better deal on the renewal. (R. p. 290, line 17-p. 291, line 17). No witness had any knowledge of that, and there is no evidence as to whether or not tenant's financials in the summer of 2020 were or were not sufficient to exercise its option. Tenant only had to decide whether it would exercise its option prior to September 30, 2020, which it did. Where the money came from was never explored, nor was it relevant.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE MAGISTRATE AND THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DECIDING THE MATTER SOLELY ON THE BASIS OF EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES OF LAW, OVERLOOKING THE LEGAL ISSUES PRESENTED WHICH DEFINED THE RIGHTS OF THE PARTIES. BOTH LOWER COURTS GRANTED RELIEF TO LANDLORD SOLELY ON THE BASIS OF EQUITABLE DOCTRINES, DESPITE THE LEGAL RIGHTS SPELLED OUT BY THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS.

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