THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appellate Case No. 2021-000460

RECEIVED

Aug 11 2021

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
DEBRA R. MCCASLIN, CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE
Case No. 2020-CP-10-04936

Quality Fresca I, LLC Appellant.

v.

Kenneth R. Davenport II, Personal Representative
Representative of the Estate of Kenneth R. Davenport Respondent,

INITIAL RESPONSE BRIEF

Dated: August 11, 2021

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Brian A. Hellman
Brian A. Hellman (72399)
Jason S. Smith (80700)
HELLMAN & YATES, PA
105 Broad Street, Third Floor
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
Telephone: (843) 266-9099
Facsimile: (843) 266-9188
bh@hellmanyates.com
js@hellmanyates.com

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

Another statutory ground that the circuit court affirmed the magistrate court in ejecting Quality Fresca from the premises was that Quality Fresca failed to timely pay a security deposit of \$30,496.00 and to cure that breach. (R. __) (Cir. Ct. Or., pp. 3, 5, 14, 16).

In its opening brief, Quality Fresca does not mention the security deposit in the statement of issues, which constitutes a failure to raise the issue, as discussed below. (App. Br., p.1).

Notwithstanding, in the factual section of its brief, Quality Fresca acknowledges all of the facts necessary to support the conclusion reached by the circuit court in affirming the magistrate court. (App. Br., pp. 8-9). Specifically, Quality Fresca acknowledges that the security deposit of \$30,496.00 was due on May 8, 2020; that no attempt was made to

pay it until more than 4 months later, on September 29, 2020, the day before the end of the lease term; that 25 days prior, on September 4, 2020, a notice of default had been given, so the 20 day period to cure had already run; and that Davenport declined to accept the long belated attempt to pay. (App. Br., pp. 8-9). These facts are also confirmed in the documentary evidence and testimony in the record. (R. __) (Cir. Ct. Or., pp. 3, 5, 14, 16) (Trial Tr., p. 36, l. 18 – p.37, l. 4, p. 38, l. 13 – p. 39, l. 5) (Trial Ex. Lease, E-mails, and Letters) (App. for Eject.).

In the argument section of its brief (within a subsection discussing COVID-19, which will be addressed in turn), Quality Fresca mentions the security deposit in a footnote, asserting:

It was the September 4, 2020 letter which pointed out, for the first time, that the ‘security deposit’ which was a requirement of the COVID-19 Amendment had not been paid. *Id.* As noted above, the funds were *immediately sent*.

(App. Br. p. 19, n. 10) (emphasis added). That assertion is misleading. The funds were not immediately sent. Quality Fresca waited 25 days and then attempted to pay the security deposit on September 29, 2020, as it acknowledged in the factual section of its brief. (App. Br. pp. 8-9) (Cir. Ct. Or., pp. 3, 5, 14, 16) (Trial Tr., p. 36, l. 18 – p.37, l. 4, p. 38, l. 13 – p. 39, l. 5) (Trial Ex. Lease, E-mails, and Letters) (App. for Eject.). The period to cure provided in the Lease was only 20 days. (R. __) (Cir. Ct. Or., pp. 3, 5, 14, 16) (Trial Ex. Lease).

Further, the security deposit was more than 4 months overdue, owed since May 8, 2020, by virtue of a promise Quality Fresca made in exchange for Davenport releasing the prior guarantors when Quality Fresca took over the Lease. (R. __) (Cir. Ct. Or., pp. 3, 5, 14, 16) (Trial Tr., p. 36, l. 18 – p.37, l. 4, p. 38, l. 13 – p. 39, l. 5) (Trial Ex. Lease, E-mails, and Letters) (App. for Eject.). And while the security deposit went unpaid, Quality Fresca

was representing that it could not afford the rent and trying to renegotiate the terms of the Lease. (R. ___) (Cir. Ct. Or., pp. 3, 5, 14, 16) (Trial Tr., p. 13, ll. 22 – p. 20, l. 11) (Trial Ex. E-mails) (App. for Eject.). And by the time Quality Fresca attempted to pay the security deposit, Davenport had already reached an agreement with a new tenant, relying on Mr. Hartmann’s representations on August 6, 2020 that he should do so, as discussed above. (R. ___) (Cir. Ct. Or., pp. 3, 5, 14, 16) (Trial Tr., p. 13, ll. 22 – p. 20, l. 11, p. 33, ll. 2 – 8, p. 34, ll. 5-10). Under these circumstances, Quality Fresca’s failure to timely pay the security deposit was no trivial matter. It was clearly a material breach, as the circuit court and the magistrate court held. (R. ___) (Cir. Ct. Or., pp. 3, 5, 14, 16). *Kiriakides*, 312 S.C. at 276, 440 S.E. 2d at 366.

In sum, Quality Fresca does not properly raise the issue, concedes the supporting facts, and makes no legal argument regarding the security deposit, other than blaming COVID-19 for its own conduct, which will be discussed next.

v. The appellant cannot blame COVID-19 for its own conduct.

Quality Fresca did not mention the COVID-19 pandemic in its notice of appeal to the circuit court, and now, it argues that COVID-19 is centrally to blame. (R. ___) (*Compare* Not. of App. to Cir. Ct., p. 1-2 *and* App. Br., p. 1). Notwithstanding that this issue was not preserved for review, as will be discussed below, the timing of events belies Quality Fresca’s newfound argument. As more fully set forth above in the statement of facts, Quality Fresca assumed the Lease in May of 2020, two months after the COVID-19 shutdowns began, in March of 2020. (R. ___) (Cir. Ct. Or., p. 2) (Trial Tr., p. 9, ll. 22 – p. 10, ll. 9) (Trial Ex. Lease) (App. for Eject.). At that time, Davenport provided accommodations, including rent deferral and the release of personal guarantors, in view of the then-ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, that Quality Fresca readily accepted and were set

forth in the Lease, as assumed, assigned, and amended. (R. __) (Cir. Ct. Or., p. 2) (Trial Tr., p. 22, ll. 1-14, p. 42, ll. 21-23) (Trial Ex. Lease) (App. for Eject.). Quality Fresca cannot now feign surprise at COVID-19 or mistreatment by Davenport.

COVID-19 did not cause Mr. Hartmann to write what he wrote in his e-mails, in bad faith. (R. __) (Cir. Ct. Or., pp. 3-5, 13-14) (Trial Tr., p. 13, ll. 22 – p. 20, l. 11) (Trial Ex. E-mails) (App. for Eject.). And Quality Fresca cannot blame Davenport for relying on Mr. Hartmann’s e-mails, taking him at his word, by engaging a commercial broker to re-let the premises and by entering into an agreement with a new commercial tenant, as Mr. Hartmann told him to do, and as Davenport had a fiduciary duty to do, as the personal representative of his father’s estate. (R. __) (Cir. Ct. Or., pp. 3, 5, 14, 16) (Trial Tr., p. 13, ll. 22 – p. 20, l. 11, p. 33, ll. 2 – 8, p. 34, ll. 5-10). Further, while Mr. Hartmann was misleading Davenport to pressure him to renegotiate the rent, COVID-19 was not the reason that Quality Fresca waited more than four months, to the very last day of the term of the Lease, to attempt to pay the \$30,496.00 security deposit that it promised to pay in May of 2020, or to fail to cure that default within 20 after receiving express notice thereof. (R. __) (Cir. Ct. Or., pp. 3-5, 13-14, 16) (Trial Tr., p. 36, l. 18 – p.37, l. 4, p. 38, l. 13 – p. 39, l. 5) (Trial Ex. Lease, E-mails, and Letters) (App. for Eject.).

II. Additional Grounds For Affirmance

- A. The outcome of this case has been conceded by the appellant because a dispositive issue ruled upon by the circuit court, regarding the appellant’s failure to file a reconsideration motion to the magistrate court, was not raised in the appellant’s brief and was therefore abandoned.**

Rule 208(b), SCACR, details the requirements of the parties’ initial briefs. “In order for an issue to be properly presented for appeal, the appellant’s brief must set forth the issue in the statement of issues on appeal.” *Langehans v. Smith*, 554 S.E.2d 681, 347

S.C. 348 (Ct. App. 2001) (discussing Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR). Further, “[a]n appellant may not use either oral argument or the reply brief as a vehicle to argue issues not argued in the appellant’s brief.” *Bochette v. Bochette*, 300 S.C. 109, 386 S.E.2d 475 (Ct. App. 1989).

In its opening brief, Quality Fresca did not raise a dispositive ruling by the circuit court. Specifically, Quality Fresca did not, either in the statement of issues or the body of the brief, challenge the circuit court’s ruling that the issues Quality Fresca attempted to raise in its appeal to the circuit court were not preserved for review because it did not first make a motion for reconsideration to the magistrate court raising those same issues. (App. Br.) (R. __) (Cir. Ct. Or., pp. 8-10). The circuit court supported that dispositive ruling by discussing Rule 19(d) of the Magistrate Court’s Rules, as well as Rule 59(e), SCRCPP, and applicable jurisprudence, including *I’ON, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 526 S.E.2d 716 (2000). (R. __) (Cir. Ct. Or., pp. 8-10). Quality Fresca makes no argument and offers no authority to the contrary in its opening brief. (App. Br.). Notably too, Quality Fresca made no attempt to argue about this issue in the motion for reconsideration that it filed with the circuit court, ironically, after failing to file such a reconsideration motion with the magistrate court. (R. __) (Mot. for Rec. to Cir. Ct.). This dispositive issue has therefore been abandoned by Quality Fresca and the outcome of this case has thus been conceded.

B. Issues raised in the appellant’s brief were not preserved for review.

“The losing party must first try to convince the lower court it is has ruled wrongly and then, if that effort fails, convince the appellate court that the lower court erred.” *I’ON*, 338 S.C. at 422, 526 S.E.2d 716. “This principle underlies the long-established preservation requirement that the losing party generally must both present his issues and

arguments to the lower court and obtain a ruling before an appellate court will review those issues and arguments.” *Id.*

As discussed immediately above, Quality Fresca did not file a motion for reconsideration to the magistrate court and did not challenge the circuit court’s dispositive ruling on its failure to do so, either in its motion for reconsideration to the circuit court, or its opening brief to this Court. (App. Br.) (R. __) (Mot. for Rec. to Cir. Ct.). Adding to the issue preservation failures, Quality Fresca’s notice of appeal from the magistrate court to the circuit court, which was statutorily required to include a statement of the “grounds” and “particulars” for the appeal,¹⁷ did not raise the issues it now attempts to raise in its appeal brief to this Court. (R. __) (Not. of App. to Cir. Ct., pp. 1-2).

In its entirety, Quality Fresca’s notice of appeal from the magistrate court to the circuit court set forth four issues, as follows:

1. There was insufficient evidence presented at trial to support a finding that the Appellant / Tenant did not validly exercise its option for an addition term as provided in the written lease.
2. There was insufficient evidence presented at trial to support a finding that the Appellant / Tenant was equitably estopped from exercising its option.
3. The Magistrate erred in considering facts not entered into evidence at the hearing.
4. There was insufficient evidence presented at trial to support a finding that Appellant / Tenant did not pay a security deposit, even though Respondent refused Appellant’s attempts to pay all amounts due. Further, the Magistrate Court’s finding ignored the plain language of the lease which required notice of default and right to cure,

¹⁷ The statutory requirements, in an appeal from the magistrate court to circuit court, are that the appellant “shall serve a notice of appeal, stating the grounds upon which the appeal is founded,” S.C. Code Ann. § 18-7-20, and “[i]n the notice of appeal the appellant shall state in what particular or particulars he claims the judgment should have been more favorable to him.” S.C. Code Ann. § 18-7-30.

neither of which were given by Respondent.

(R. __) (Not. of App. to Cir. Ct., pp. 1-2).

Compare those four issues to the two issues presented in the statement of issues in Quality Fresca's opening brief (notwithstanding the third issue, relating to the appeal bond, which arose after the notice of appeal to the circuit was filed), as follows:

1. The magistrate and the circuit court erred in deciding the matter solely on the basis of equitable principles of law, overlooking the legal issues presented which defined the rights of the parties, and granted relief to landlord solely on the basis of equitable doctrines, despite the legal rights spelled out by the contract documents.

2. To the extent equitable principles should have been considered at all, tenant's assumption of commercial space for a restaurant in downtown Charleston the early months of the 2020 pandemic weighed in favor of construing equity in favor of tenant.

(App. Br. p. 1).

As this comparison shows, Quality Fresca has gone from making arguments that there was insufficient evidence at trial to now making arguments that there were errors of law. And previously, the COVID-19 pandemic was unmentioned by Quality Fresca, whereas now, it is centrally to blame. Observe also that Quality Fresca previously raised the issue of its belated attempt to pay the security deposit, and now, that issue does not appear in the statement of issues (and the facts supporting the circuit court's affirmance of the magistrate court on that issue are acknowledged in the body of the brief, as discussed above).

In sum, Quality Fresca has discarded its old arguments in favor of trying new ones, which is not permitted. *See I'ON*, 338 S.C. at 422, 526 S.E.2d 716.

C. Appellate jurisdiction does not exist because a bond filing was not timely made to the magistrate court, and there is an express statutory requirement for the appeal to be dismissed in that event.

The statutory scheme at issue expressly provides that an appeal of an order of ejectment issued by the magistrate court “shall be dismissed” if the tenant fails to file a bond within five days after serving its notice of appeal, as follows:

An appeal in an ejectment case will not stay ejectment unless at the time of appealing the tenant shall give an appeal bond as in other civil cases for an amount to be fixed by the magistrate and conditioned for the payment of all costs and damages which the landlord may sustain thereby. In the event the tenant shall fail to file the bond herein required within five days after service of the notice of appeal such appeal *shall be dismissed* by the trial magistrate.

S.C. Code Ann. § 27-37-130 (emphasis added).

Two cases decided by the South Carolina Supreme Court, *Wheeler v. Hyler*, 91 S.E. 2d 265, 228 S.C. 584 (1956) and *Horn v. Blackwell*, 212 S.C. 480, 48 S.E. 2d 322 (1948), hold that this statutory language, requiring dismissal in the event that the tenant fails to file a bond within five days after serving its notice of appeal of the magistrate court, is a “jurisdictional,” “condition precedent” to the right of appeal by a tenant from an order of ejectment.

Here, as detailed above, Quality Fresca filed its notice of appeal from the magistrate court on November 9, 2020. (R. __) (Not. of App. to Cir. Ct.). Quality Fresca thereafter made no request for an appeal bond within five days. (R. __) (Cir. Ct. Or., pp. 5-8). That was a fatal failure requiring dismissal of the appeal. Nine days after the jurisdictional, condition precedent deadline passed, the magistrate court, *sua sponte*, on November 18, 2020, scheduled a bond hearing, over Davenport’s objections, which was held on November 25, 2020, and thereafter accepted a bond from Quality Fresca. (R. __) (Cir. Ct. Or., pp. 5-8) (Mag. Ct. App. Bond Tr.). But the magistrate court’s gracious leniency could not and did not cure Quality Fresca’s fatal failure. The mandate of the statute is clear:

“such appeal shall be dismissed by the trial magistrate.” S.C. Code Ann. § 27-37-130. The circuit court correctly recognized this fatal failure as an additional ground for affirming the magistrate court’s order of ejectment. (R. __) (Cir. Ct. Or., pp. 5-8).

Davenport was not required, as Quality Fresca argues, to take his own, separate, independent appeal from the magistrate court in order for the circuit court to recognize that it was not vested with appellate jurisdiction and that the appeal taken by Quality Fresca should be dismissed. (App. Br., pp. 22-30). The fact that, here, the magistrate court, itself, did not dismiss the appeal, as it should have done by statute, is immaterial to the question of whether there is ongoing appellate jurisdiction, as *Wheeler* explains:

Under it [the statute now known as S.C. Code Ann. § 27-37-130], the dismissal of the appeal by the ‘trial magistrate’ is merely the means of establishing the absence of this condition precedent. Here the failure to file the bond is conceded in the agreed case. Because of appellants’ non-compliance with this mandatory provision of the statute, the appeal is not properly before us. It is, therefore, unnecessary to decide whether the order of dismissal should have been signed by Judge Moss, before whom the case was tried, instead of by Judge Bellinger, who was presiding in the eleventh circuit when the order was filed. We, therefore, do not reach the question of whether the judgment of the lower court is void for lack of jurisdiction of the issues raised by the pleadings and intimate no opinion thereabout. An objection to jurisdiction of the subject matter may be raised at any time during the progress of an action. However, the conclusion that this appeal is not properly pending before this court exhausts our jurisdiction and precludes consideration of it.

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